

OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES NO 100 / JANUARY 2009

SURVEY DATA ON HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION

RESEARCH SUMMARY AND POLICY USE

by the Eurosystem Household Finance and Consumption Network





OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES

NO 100 / JANUARY 2009

SURVEY DATA ON HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION

RESEARCH SUMMARY AND POLICY USE

by the Eurosystem Household Finance and Consumption Network

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id= 1144504.



In 2009 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €200 banknote.





© European Central Bank, 2009

Address

Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main Germany

Postal address

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Website http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

All rights reserved. Any reproduction, publication or reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

ISSN 1607-1484 (print) ISSN 1725-6534 (online)

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY	5
INTRODUCTION	6
I RESEARCH SUMMARY	7
1.1 Why use micro data for the analysis of household finance and consumption?	7
1.2 Research on the wealth effects on consumption	8
1.3 Research on housing prices and household indebtedness	10
1.4 Micro-simulations as a tool for policy	п
1.5 Research on retirement income and consumption and pension reforms	
1.6 Research on access to credit and borrowing constraints	14
1.7 Research on financial innovation, consumption smoothing and	
portfolio selection 1.8 Research on wealth inequality	15 16
2 USE OF HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION SURVEY DATA IN	
POLICY-MAKING	18
2.1 United States	18
2.2 Greece	19
2.3 Spain	21
2.4 Italy	23 25
2.5 The Netherlands2.6 Austria	
2.7 Portugal	26 27
2.7 Foltugal	21
ANNEX: THE EUROSYSTEM HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION NETWORK	29
REFERENCES	32
EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES SINCE 2007	38

2

ABSTRACT

The first part of this paper provides a brief survey of the recent literature that employs survey data on household finance and consumption. Given the breadth of the topic, it focuses on issues that are particularly relevant for policy, namely: i) wealth effects on consumption, ii) housing prices and household indebtedness, iii) retirement income, consumption and pension reforms, iv) access to credit and credit constraints, v) financial innovation, consumption smoothing and portfolio selection and vi) wealth inequality. The second part uses concrete examples to summarise how results from such surveys feed into policy-making within the central banks that already conduct such surveys.

Keywords: Household finance, consumption, survey data

JEL Classification: C42, D12, D14



NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

This paper has a dual purpose. First, it provides a brief survey of the recent literature that employs survey data on household finance and consumption. Given the breadth of the topic, it focuses on issues that are particularly relevant for policy, namely: i) wealth effects on consumption, ii) housing prices and household indebtedness, iii) retirement income, consumption and pension reforms, iv) access to credit and credit constraints, v) financial innovation, consumption smoothing and portfolio selection and vi) wealth inequality. Second, it summarises how results from such surveys feed into policy-making within the central banks that already conduct such surveys.

This research overview demonstrates that survey data on household finance and consumption have been successfully analysed in many studies which have contributed substantially to our understanding of both individual behaviour and the evolution of aggregate variables. In addition, household-level data make it possible to evaluate the impact of shocks, policies and institutional changes across households, and across different institutional structures, and thus allow a better understanding of the implications of shocks for macroeconomic variables. Consequently, this information yields important insights about issues like monetary policy transmission or financial stability.

In several instances, information on the behaviour of subgroups of the population is essential for such an understanding. For instance, the recent financial crisis has demonstrated that a relatively small fraction of households (in this case the ones that are highly indebted) can have important effects on market outcomes. Another example relates to the wealthiest households; given the skewness in the wealth distribution, the wealthiest households exert effects on aggregate statistics that are in disproportion to their number.

Research results are primarily available for the United States, the United Kingdom, Italy and

Spain. However, given the differences across countries, e.g. in institutional settings or in the nature of shocks, results obtained for one economy cannot be easily generalised. At the same time, this overview also argues that we lack internationally comparable data, a factor that obviously prevents analyses for the euro area as a whole. Availability of such data for more euro area countries will therefore be an important asset.

Central banks that conduct surveys on household finance and consumption make ample use of them, in research work, in their communication with the public (references to survey data are often made in speeches, and results are regularly reported in the central banks' publications) and in internal notes. Survey results are routinely looked at in relation to issues of financial stability. On a number of occasions, central banks have been able to infer relevant information from the surveys that could not be recovered from aggregate statistics. To give just one example, the implications of the steep increases in household indebtedness that have been observed in a number of euro area countries over the recent years cannot be adequately judged from aggregate data alone. Data on the average debt levels of households as well as their distribution across income and/ or age classes obtained from surveys have provided central banks with relevant information as to whether the increase in overall debt levels raises concerns about financial stability. At the same time, it has been shown in recent work that financial stability analyses based on disaggregated data can be hampered by the lack of comparability of the existing survey data in some euro area countries.



INTRODUCTION

This paper has a dual purpose. First, it provides a brief survey of the recent literature that employs survey data on household finance and consumption. Given the breadth of the topic, it focuses on issues that are particularly relevant for policy: i) wealth effects on consumption, ii) housing prices and household indebtedness, iii) retirement income, consumption and pension reforms, iv) access to credit and credit constraints, v) financial innovation, consumption smoothing and portfolio selection and vi) wealth inequality. Second, it summarises how results from such surveys feed into policy-making within the central banks that already conduct such surveys.

The recent financial crisis has highlighted the importance of understanding how households respond to shocks to wealth, including housing price shocks, and whether and how this reaction depends on their income, demographics and level of indebtedness. For many households, the bulk of assets consists of real estate, and mortgages constitute their largest liability. Consequently, they can be substantially affected by fluctuations in house prices or interest rates. Household-level data are essential for investigating how specific groups of the population react to such shocks.

The other topics - consumption after retirement, households' access to credit, financial innovation and wealth inequality - are also relevant for policy purposes. First, the aging of population in industrial countries raises questions about the long-run sustainability of their pension systems and the need to analyse economic behaviour of older households in alternative pension schemes. Second, financial innovation enables households to access credit more extensively and to invest in new financial instruments. However, it also increases the scope for error and makes it more important for consumers to understand the potential risks of their investment decisions. In addition, the number and extent of credit-constrained households affects the transmission of monetary policy. Third, wealth inequality has recently risen in

many industrial countries, possibly in part as a result of skill-biased technological progress. Changes in the distribution of wealth can affect aggregate variables, as the consumption, saving and investment behaviour of households differs substantially depending on their wealth.

A number of central banks collect micro data on household finance and consumption, and use the information extensively for research and policy-making. The data describe how assets and liabilities are distributed across households and how the importance of various wealth components and the extent of debt service evolves over time. The statistics can be used to analyse the potential effects of possible monetary, fiscal and regulatory policies. A key topic of interest in central banks has also been the implications of household indebtedness and the consequences of adverse shocks to income, interest rates and house prices for various consumers.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 1 discusses why micro data are useful for the analysis of household finance and consumption, and contains the research summary for the various topics outlined above. Section 2 provides a detailed overview of how household finance and consumption survey data have fed into policy-making within the central banks that already conduct such surveys.



I RESEARCH SUMMARY

This section provides a brief survey of the recent literature that employs survey data on household finance and consumption. It starts with some general motivations for the use of such micro data and continues with more specific research examples related to the propensity to consume out of wealth, housing prices, household indebtedness, micro-simulations as a policy tool, retirement income and pension reforms, financial constraints, financial innovation and wealth inequality.

I.I WHY USE MICRO DATA FOR THE ANALYSIS OF HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION?

The dynamics of economic aggregates are determined not only by macroeconomic variables, but also by household-specific factors. This is particularly true for household consumption, savings and balance sheets, which are to a large extent driven by expectations about future individual income (and its uncertainty)¹ and demographic and social characteristics. Because the household-specific factors remain hidden in aggregate statistics, their relevance can only be assessed with microlevel data. While we often know a priori that microeconomic conditions matter considerablyfor example, demographic structure is an important determinant of aggregate savings² household-level data are crucial for quantifying the size and relevance of these effects.

Surveys make it possible to evaluate the impact of shocks, policies and institutional changes on various groups of individuals. These insights in turn allow a better understanding of the implications of shocks for macroeconomic variables. For example, financial integration, financial innovation and the "democratisation of credit" made it easier for households to borrow against their future income, smooth consumption and diversify their portfolios. The resulting changes in the composition of the assetholder pool and their potential implications for welfare, wealth distribution, the relative impact of policies on different household groups and the ultimate effect on macroeconomic variables can only be judged with micro data.³

In addition to providing essential information about structural variables (such as the degree of risk aversion) and the propagation of shocks within each country, standardised euro area-wide data could reveal valuable insights about how institutions and policies affect the transmission of shocks and the distribution of risks. It is well-known that European countries differ in many relevant respects, such as financial regulation, systems of taxes and social benefits, pension systems, labour market institutions and regulation of goods markets. This crosscountry variation can be very informative for identifying structural parameters and, ultimately, for designing optimal institutions. For example, Attanasio et al. (2002) use the density of automated teller machines (ATMs) across 95 Italian administrative provinces to identify how financial innovation affects money demand. Regional diversity within the European Economic and Monetary Union (EMU), which is likely to be more substantial, could prove even more useful in this and other applications. However, as a prerequisite it is of course necessary to ensure that the cross-country variation comes from the signal - such as the actual institutional differences - rather than the noise, which can arise through the lack of data standardisation and measurement error. In addition, it is important that as many countries participate as possible, because the strength of the signal increases when countries with different institutions are captured in the data.

The availability of micro data for understanding the impact of shocks, policies and institutional changes is particularly important in view of

- 2 Because incomes typically rise over one's lifetime, individuals tend to borrow when they are young and save later on.
- ³ For example, it might be interesting to ask if the total increase in credit is due to more people who borrow or due to increased lending to the existing borrowers.

I RESEARCH SUMMARY

Household-level income growth typically differs substantially from aggregate income growth. In addition, uncertainty about individual income is dominated by idiosyncratic (or householdspecific), rather than aggregate, shocks.

the extremely large heterogeneity in economic behaviour of households. For example, Campbell (2006) provides an overview of the cross-sectional wealth distribution in the US, pointing out that many households have negligible financial assets (the median household holding only \$35,000 in financial assets), and highlighting the skewness inthe cross-sectional distribution of wealth, which implies that relatively few wealthy households exert substantial effects on aggregate statistics. An analysis of aggregated data can therefore hardly shed light on the behaviour of individuals and on the differential impact of policies and asset prices across households. This heterogeneity is also apparent when it comes to participation decisions. As Campbell (2006) shows, the percentage of households holding various components of assets depends on the households' total assets. Households with low wealth are very unlikely to participate in risky financial markets, contrary to the predictions of standard economic theory. Instead, these households hold only safe assets and vehicles. Many quite wealthy households do not even participate in the stock market.

While this illustration was restricted to asset holdings, liabilities are also distributed very unevenly across households. Furthermore, cross-household heterogeneity is not restricted to the US, but is also present in the euro area, where additionally cross-country differences in institutions and policies are relevant, making availability of micro data even more crucial (see, e.g., the evidence on Italy, Germany and the Netherlands in Guiso, Haliassos and Jappelli, 2002). Indeed, international variation can be exploited to estimate the consequences of alternative policies. For that purpose, the availability of comparable, harmonised data is essential. As will be seen below, for a number of countries data are already partially available and used extensively in research and policy; however, to date these data lack comparability across countries. As a result, it is difficult to come to convincing conclusions for the euro area as a whole (see, e.g., ECB 2007, esp. pp. 48-55).4

Reliable data on households' wealth, income and consumption can provide important input into central banks' policies, ranging from monetary policy to financial stability and payment systems policy.⁵ This paper synthesises the current research on some relevant topics through a few concrete examples.

I.2 RESEARCH ON THE WEALTH EFFECTS ON CONSUMPTION

The recent developments in housing prices have re-ignited the interest in how asset prices affect the real economy.⁶ A key channel in that regard is through personal consumption; households whose wealth increases spend more because they have more resources available and because their liquidity or collateral constraints are relaxed. Altissimo et al. (2005) summarise the existing macroeconomic literature on the subject, which typically estimates that the marginal propensity to consume (MPC) out of wealth ranges between 3 and 10 cents, with housing wealth often exerting stronger effects than financial wealth. In the euro area, wealth effects appear somewhat weaker (Slacalek, 2006).

Unfortunately, most of the existing estimates from aggregate data are quite imprecise, and subject to at least two limitations. First, household heterogeneity cannot be investigated. In particular, heterogeneity with respect to income, age, indebtedness and homeownership status is likely to play an important role in determining the size of the response of consumption to wealth shocks. Second, variations in asset prices and consumption are partially driven by the same factors, which are

- 5 On the usefulness of household survey data in policy-making see also the speech by the Governor of the Banca d'Italia Mario Draghi at the conference "The Luxembourg Wealth Study: Enhancing Comparative Research on Household Finance", http:// www.bancaditalia.it/studiricerche/convegni/atti/luxembourg/ remarks/Lws_draghi.pdf.
- 6 The work by Bover (2005) referred to in this section is a case in point. It grew out of an article in the May 2005 Economic Bulletin of the Banco de España, motivated by the high share of real estate in household wealth in Spain and the steady increase in real estate prices since the late 1990s.

8

⁴ Comparative datasets such as the Luxembourg Wealth Study exist, but cover only parts of the topics of interest here.

I RESEARCH SUMMARY

difficult to account for adequately. This problem is much less severe in micro data because almost all variation of consumption at the household level is idiosyncratic. Household-level data are thus crucial for estimating structural relationships between consumption and wealth.

Estimates of the MPC obtained with micro data are typically somewhat smaller than those obtained with macro data. Paiella (2004), Guiso, Paiella and Visco (2005) and Grant and Peltonen (2005) for Italy, and Bover (2005) for Spain, find a relatively small MPC out of housing wealth (of around 1.5 to 3 cents per euro). In that regard, an important distinction has to be made between housing wealth and financial wealth. Maki and Palumbo (2001), using the US Survey of Consumer Finances (SCF) data, show that the highly educated households with high incomes, who benefited most from the run-up in equity prices in the late 1990s, substantially decreased their saving rates. However, this effect is highly concentrated among the rich, such that the entire increase in spending in aggregate data appears to be driven by these households. The Maki and Palumbo study is one of the few which identify significant effects of financial wealth. In contrast, most studies find that the MPC out of financial wealth is small, and often statistically insignificant (e.g. Bover (2005) for Spain; Sierminska and Takhtamanova (2007) for Finland, Canada and Italy; Grant and Peltonen (2005) for Italy; Bostic, Gabriel and Painter (2005) for the US). However, it is possible that the role of financial wealth becomes more pronounced over time, with financial innovation changing the portfolio behaviour of households (see below), or reforms of the pension system raising the need for more own provision of retirement income through private savings.

Wealth effects differ substantially across households. Age is an important determinant, with several studies finding a hump-shaped pattern. For instance, Bover (2005) finds that there is no wealth effect for young homeowners, a large effect for homeowners aged 35-44, and a much reduced effect for those above 44. A precautionary motive can explain these findings,

whereby an increase in the value of their home reduces the need of households for other savings, particularly for those in the age bracket 35-44 where typically many savings are accrued and life-cycle consumption needs are the largest. The possibility of "downsizing" their homes in the future prevents the need for other precautionary savings.7 The effect of house prices on consumption differs between renters and homeowners (Guiso et al. (2005) for Italy; Campbell and Cocco (2007) for the UK). While the latter increase consumption when house prices rise, the former tend to save more. Furthermore, household leverage matters. Using data from the British Household Panel Survey (BHPS), Disney, Bridges and Gathergood (2006, p. 5) "...estimate an average aggregate marginal propensity to increase household net borrowing in response to an increase in house prices of around 0.03 - varying from almost 0.4 for highly levered households to zero for households with very low loan-to-value ratios". Using the same data, Disney, Gathergood and Henley (2007) find that house price fluctuations have a disproportionate impact on savings if the household had negative housing equity at the start of the period. Finally, there is also evidence for asymmetric responses: Engelhardt (1996) for the US and Berben et al. (2006) for the Netherlands show that households tend to respond more to losses than to gains, a fact that can be explained with the concavity of the consumption function due to precautionary savings, or with the existence of liquidity constraints.

These findings have a number of important policy conclusions. First, if households react more to losses than to gains, busts in housing markets could have particularly severe consequences for

7



Hump-shaped patterns are also documented in Sierminska and Takhtamanova (2006) for Canada, Finland and Italy, using data from the Luxembourg Wealth Study, as well as in Lehnert (2004) for the US. The latter paper furthermore finds a large MPC for the very young households, which are more likely to borrow extensively. Results are dependent on the way age groups are split, with rougher classifications often leading to linear effects. Skinner (1996), for instance, finds that housing wealth fluctuations affect consumption of the young, but not of older households.

consumption, especially given the breadth of homeownership and the level of indebtedness in many euro area countries. Second, if housing wealth effects are indeed larger than financial wealth effects, experiences from stock market busts are not representative for possible consequences of decreasing house prices.

1.3 RESEARCH ON HOUSING PRICES AND HOUSEHOLD INDEBTEDNESS

The recent run-up in real estate prices has in many countries been associated with more household mortgage credit and higher overall indebtedness. Understanding the cross-sectional composition of liabilities is as crucial as understanding their overall level. Micro data are essential for analysing this structure, assessing the mismatch between assets and liabilities of households and identifying how many individuals have accumulated too much debt and what risks such over-accumulation poses to their finances and ultimately to the economy.

As with the previous topic, the research on the causes and consequences of household indebtedness is limited to a few countries. Dynan and Kohn (2007) address these issues using seven waves of the US SCF. Using simple regression models of the (potential) determinants of debt-income ratios, they identify increases in real estate prices as the key driver of US household indebtedness.8 While some part of the variation in indebtedness can be attributed to demographic factors, other factors, such as changes in tastes, interest rates and expected income, do not seem to have had much effect on household liabilities in the US. Debt was also boosted by financial innovation, primarily by "increasing the amount of debt held by households that already had some access to borrowing", as opposed to making it possible for new consumers to borrow (Dynan and Kohn, 2007, p. 2).

The consequences of household indebtedness can be as interesting to investigate as its causes. Higher liabilities affect personal consumption through various channels. New credits give consumers better opportunities to insulate spending from shocks. On the other hand, some households may have to allocate substantial resources to debt service, leaving them with fewer funds available for further consumption smoothing. Dynan and Kohn (2007) and Dynan, Elmendorf and Sichel (2006) report that, on average, consumption of US households has become less sensitive to income shocks (following financial innovation and the increase in indebtedness). At the same time, they find that highly indebted consumers are more exposed to risk and more likely to be insolvent, and have higher mortgage delinquency and foreclosure rates.

Disney, Bridges and Gathergood (2006) investigate the interplay between housing prices, indebtedness and borrowing constraints in the UK, with a special focus on the substitutability between secured debt (e.g. mortgages) and unsecured debt (e.g. credit cards). Increased use of unsecured debt (due to financial innovation and more competition) results in a lower housing wealth effect (because houses become less important as collateral). Disney et al. report that at most one-quarter of British homeowners was collateral constrained in 1995. Given the strong house price dynamics and the spread of unsecured debt, this proportion has fallen since. The authors argue that standard empirical models that do not account for unsecured debt (such as Campbell and Cocco, 2007) substantially overestimate the housing wealth effect. In addition, Disney et al. identify a relationship between changes in house prices and total indebtedness only among collateralconstrained households which initially exhibit high levels of unsecured debt. This is in line with the findings reported by Bridges, Disney and Henley (2006). Combining the BHPS data with the Families and Children Survey, they document that homeownership gives households access to (unsecured) credit: homeowners are more than twice as likely to have credit cards and store cards as tenants. At the same time,

An additional indication of the important role of housing prices is that the accumulation of debt was concentrated among homeowners.

however, more housing equity is not associated with higher unsecured debt.

The substantial growth in credit card use and in revolving credit card debt creates the potential for household bankruptcy, delinquency, and financial hardship. Assessing the potential for such developments requires an understanding of the determinants of credit card behaviour and of the extent of co-existence of credit card debt with household assets, both liquid and illiquid. A body of recent literature on these issues has focused on US data, and has identified surprising patterns of co-existence of revolving unsecured debt with both liquid and illiquid asset accumulation that are hard to understand using conventional models and have prompted authors to consider psychological factors, such as self-control (see Gross and Souleles, 2001; Laibson et al., 2002; and the literature surveyed in Bertaut and Haliassos, 2006). There are considerable differences between the US and Europe, and even among European countries, regarding the nature of credit and debit cards and the institutional framework governing those. It is therefore important to use Europe-wide survey data to study the potential relevance of such considerations across the continent.

1.4 MICRO-SIMULATIONS AS A TOOL FOR POLICY

Simulations with macroeconomic models are an important and regular input to the monetary policy decision-making process. This approach can be usefully complemented with a less frequently employed tool: micro-simulations. These are based on models of behaviour of individual entities, such as a person, family or firm, and simulate the behaviour of entire populations of these entities in order to draw conclusions for higher levels of aggregation such as a country.⁹

In contrast to the traditional macro-simulations, where the explanatory variables already represent aggregate behaviour, micro-simulations can go beyond the traditional focus of monetary policy analysis on the "representative agent", i.e. the average household or firm. Accordingly, their benefits are clearly greatest when the traditional representative agent assumption is insufficient (for instance, according to the "credit view" of monetary policy, the distribution of resources among individuals has repercussions on policy outcomes due to the presence of credit constraints).

An illustrative example of how such tools can use household survey data for monetary policy purposes is the discussion paper by Herrala and Kauko (2007). They construct a microsimulation model for Finland using a micro dataset of households. The data include income and debt variables (from register sources) and indicators of economic distress (based on subjective opinions of respondents).¹⁰ Based on a number of macroeconomic scenarios taken from the Bank of Finland's macroeconomic model, the number of distressed households and their aggregate debt are simulated. This allows for a mapping of the macroeconomic scenarios that feed into the policy analysis with forecasts of distress in the household sector, thus enabling the central bank to gain a consistent picture of the overall effects of the different scenarios it considers in its analysis. The simulations indicate that the credit risk of banks in Finland due to household loans is relatively low at the present juncture. However, in the case of a coincidence of large and persistent adverse shocks to unemployment, interest rates and housing prices, even household loans could become a threat to financial stability.

1.5 RESEARCH ON RETIREMENT INCOME AND CONSUMPTION AND PENSION REFORMS

The dramatic ageing of populations in the euro area could have substantial consequences for the behaviour of aggregate consumption.

- 9 For a detailed definition, see Statistics Canada (http://www.statcan.ca/english/spsd/).
- 10 The data are provided by Statistics Finland. They are collected for constructing statistics on income distribution and for the EU Statistics on Income and Living Conditions. Because approximately 3,000 households participate in the survey for two consecutive years, a part of the dataset can be used for panel estimation.

For a thorough understanding of future developments, it is important to revert to micro data on consumption of the elderly. There are in particular two stylised facts that are regularly reported in empirical studies. First, the elderly show positive discretionary saving rates, which are furthermore often increasing with age (e.g. Börsch-Supan, 2001). This finding has been labelled the savings puzzle. Possible explanations include the bequest motive and that the elderly perceive larger uncertainty, e.g. due to health risks. The second argument is in line with the findings of Kennickell and Lusardi (2004) that precautionary savings, while relevant across all household types, are particularly important for older households. Second, consumption drops at the time of retirement, a pattern that is difficult to reconcile with the life-cycle hypothesis, and has therefore been called the retirement consumption puzzle. While this finding could cast doubt on rational forward-looking behaviour of economic agents, other explanations can come into play too. For instance, retired households have considerably more leisure, which can be used to purchase goods more efficiently, or to substitute home production for purchased goods. Alternatively, uncertainty about the timing of retirement can cause such effects. Unanticipated early retirement, e.g. due to health problems or unemployment, affects life-time income, and should therefore lead to a reduction in consumption. To shed light on this, survey data are particularly useful. Smith (2004), using data from the BHPS, finds that among the group of respondents who retired at the expected age, about 75% experienced no decline in food spending, suggesting that the retirement consumption puzzle is not the norm when looked at from the micro perspective. In a similar vein, Miniaci et al. (2003) and Hurd and Rohwedder (2005) find no retirement consumption puzzle for Italy and the Netherlands, respectively, mainly due to an increased use of leisure in home production.

Ageing furthermore puts the established pay-asyou-go social security systems under pressure, and increases the need for more own provision of retirement income through private savings. This raises the issue of how pension reforms affect macroeconomic outcomes. According to the standard life-cycle hypothesis, a change in expected pension benefits should lead to a oneto-one change in private wealth (Feldstein, 1974). While empirical analyses do indeed find a crowding-out of discretionary wealth by pension wealth, the rate is considerably smaller than one-to-one (however see, e.g., Attanasio and Brugiavini, 2003, who find strong substitutability between discretionary and pension wealth in the Italian Survey of Household Income and Wealth (SHIW)).¹¹ A number of reasons have been put forward to explain this finding, such as bequest motives, liquidity constraints or uncertainty surrounding future reforms. An important possibility relates to the role of information, whereby economic agents might not fully and immediately understand how a reform will affect their benefits. As a matter of fact, Bottazzi et al. (2006) provide evidence using the Italian SHIW that the relationship between private wealth and perceived pension wealth depends on the extent to which workers are informed about their pension wealth. For better informed workers, there is indeed a substantial offset between private wealth and perceived pension wealth.

In a similar vein, financial literacy has been found to be important for the choice of pension schemes. Using data from the DNB Household Survey (DHS), van Rooij et al. (2007) find that Dutch employees prefer defined benefit pension plans (under which pension benefits are guaranteed) over defined contribution schemes (with regular contributions, and the ultimate pension benefits depending on total contributions paid and the return earned on the invested contributions). This coincides with respondents expressing doubts about their financial skills and reporting a high level of risk aversion with regard to pension issues. Furthermore, van Els et al. (2004) find that a large number of respondents in the DHS show a substantial lack of knowledge about their personal pension

11 Changes in pension schemes also affect retirement age (see, e.g., Friedberg and Webb, 2003).

I RESEARCH SUMMARY

arrangements. These findings suggest that changes in pension schemes towards plans where risk and responsibility are shifted from employers to employees should be accompanied by measures that improve financial literacy.

A related issue concerns the vulnerability of reformed pension schemes. Adverse developments such as a stock market crash can affect the performance of pension funds substantially. Studies of sustainability of pension schemes in the presence of such shocks and of the effects on the different segments of the population can benefit from the availability of survey data. To give an example, simulation analyses such as the one of the Dutch pension system by Kakes and Broeders (2006) or of the demographic development in Italy by Ando and Nicoletti-Altimari (2004) can provide more reliable results if they incorporate information on household heterogeneity. Ando and Nicoletti-Altimari, for instance, apply the Italian SHIW data to a demographic model, and run a number of simulations to study the evolution of aggregate income, savings and asset accumulation in the future.

In order to assess adequacy of saving for retirement and the potential for asset meltdown, it is quite important to know the level and composition of assets with which households enter retirement, both across the Atlantic and in different countries within Europe. Internationally comparable surveys allow such analysis and pose methodological challenges. Christelis, Georgarakos and Haliassos (2007) document and study sources of international differences in asset holdings (stocks, private businesses and homes) in the US, England, and 11 continental European countries, using newly available and internationally comparable householdlevel data for people aged 50 and above. The authors uncover a rich and often surprising pattern of differences in market conditions facing households of given characteristics in different European countries and in the US. This suggests that there is considerable room for further harmonisation of the institutional and policy framework governing asset and labour markets within Europe and across the Atlantic. Population-wide surveys can shed additional light on these issues, by allowing examination of asset and debt behaviour over the entire life cycle.

Several European countries, like Italy, the Netherlands or Spain, have established tax incentives that promote the participation in supplementary pension funds with the aim to complement pension income. For assessing the effectiveness of those tax incentives, it is important to know who uses the tax-favoured products and, furthermore, whether the tax incentives increase household savings or merely lead to a reshuffling of portfolios away from other products into those covered by the tax incentives.

Poterba, Venti and Wise (1995) use several cross-sections of the SCF to document that US households with access to a tax advantage did not diminish their holdings of non-tax-favoured assets relative to households without access to a tax advantage. They infer that tax advantages generate substantial new saving. In contrast, Gale and Scholz (1994) use the SCF and estimate the degree of substitution between tax-favoured non-tax-favoured saving, modelling and explicitly the presence of contribution limits, and document little new saving, a tentative conclusion shared in the assessment of Hubbard and Skinner (1996) or the literature summary in Bernheim (2002). In the United Kingdom, Attanasio, Banks and Wakefield (2004) also infer that there are only small amounts of new saving. Tiseno and Paiella (2005) use data from the Italian SHIW, and find that households who hold tax-favoured products are on average older and wealthier, and have more liquid portfolios; they also find a relatively small effect on new savings. Ayuso, Jimeno and Villanueva (2007) combine information from Spanish tax records and expenditure surveys around the introduction of those incentives to document that the amount of new saving created is lower among households close enough to retirement, which are most likely to use those products, but higher among prime-age households.



1.6 RESEARCH ON ACCESS TO CREDIT AND BORROWING CONSTRAINTS

A large strand of literature on consumption dynamics attempts to explain the relevance of credit constraints. Apart from being of theoretical importance,¹² this research also provides interesting insights for policymakers, such as on the welfare costs of these constraints and their role in the monetary policy transmission mechanism.

The micro literature on borrowing constraints generally uses a priori information about individuals to divide them into i) those who are likely to be constrained, and ii) the rest. Standard theory implies that consumption growth of the former group is sensitive to past income, whereas the spending of the latter households should approximately follow a random walk (after controlling for demographics and precautionary savings). The early work of Zeldes (1989) and Runkle (1991) used the amount of liquid assets and homeownership as proxies for whether individuals are likely to be credit-constrained.¹³ As these proxies are rather noisy, the findings of these two studies are mixed: while Zeldes (1989) reports that a significant portion of the population is affected by liquidity constraints,¹⁴ Runkle (1991) finds no evidence thereof, and ascribes much of the previously reported evidence to the aggregation bias.

More recent literature (e.g. Jappelli, Pischke and Souleles, 1998, and Guiso, Jappelli and Terlizzese, 1996) uses potentially more informative indicators of liquidity constraints based on direct questions about whether the affected household "was either 'rejected' or 'discouraged' from applying for a credit" (Crook, 2006, p. 80). Jappelli, Pischke and Souleles (1998) augment data on food consumption and income from the US PSID with SCF measures of liquidity constraints, and report (p. 260) that the "excess sensitivity coefficients for the constrained group are two to ten times as large as those found by splitting the sample". However, they also find that only relatively few households may be facing binding

liquidity constraints. In related work, Guiso, Jappelli and Terlizzese (1996) investigate the effects of income risk and liquidity constraints on portfolio choice in the Italian SHIW dataset. Their main findings are that, in accordance with the theory, investors reduce their holdings of risky assets when income risk increases or when they are subject to liquidity constraints.

Overall, the evidence on the importance of liquidity constraints based on these conventional tests of excess sensitivity is mixed. The generic problem of the literature is that liquidity constraints may be difficult to detect even if they truly exist. Reasons for this include, as pointed out by Jappelli and Pistaferri (2000), data limitations (measurement issues, small time dimension of the existing panels), econometric issues (lack of good instruments for income, omitted variables) and the complex channels through which liquidity constraints can interact with precautionary savings.

Understanding whether household borrowing (the probability of getting a new loan and the amount of borrowing requested) is affected by changes in the cost of borrowing is crucial to assess if households are rationed in the credit market. In the presence of liquidity constraints, credit volumes should be affected less by changes in the interest rate than by changes in maturity or credit limits (a longer maturity decreases the size of the monthly payment, allowing the consumer to assume a larger amount of debt; Attanasio, Goldberg and Kyriazidou, 2000). However, estimating the response of household borrowing to the cost of debt with aggregate data faces the problem that aggregate interest rates tend to move

¹² The work on liquidity constraints is helpful for addressing the so-called "excess sensitivity puzzle", the fact that consumption growth in data is sensitive to the income predicted with past information, which contradicts the key implication of the permanent income hypothesis model of Hall (1978) that consumption follows a random walk.

¹³ Jappelli, Pischke and Souleles (1998) argue that as many as 80% of those consumers that are characterised by Zeldes (1989) as the constrained low-wealth sample may actually have access to credit.

¹⁴ Zeldes (1989) reports that the annual (food) consumption growth of the liquidity-constrained group (two-thirds of the sample) is 1.7% higher than it would have been in the absence of constraints.

I RESEARCH SUMMARY

with many other aggregate variables which have a separate effect on total borrowing themselves.

There have therefore been several attempts to estimate how changes in the cost of debt affect household borrowing, using household surveys. Micro data usually contain cross-sectional variation in the cost of borrowing, e.g. through differences in tax deductibility of loan repayments, or through targeted incentives to borrow created by public subsidies. Maki (2001) uses the abolishment of tax deduction of consumer borrowing in 1986 in the US, and provides evidence that households substituted consumer loans by mortgages almost on a oneto-one basis. Hendershott et al. (2003) document that increases in the cost of borrowing (through the removal of the deductibility of mortgage interest rate subsidies in the United Kingdom) resulted in a drop of loan-to-value ratios. Jappelli and Pistaferri (2007) study a tax reform in Italy that eliminated the incentive to borrow among rich households, and find weak effects on the probability of getting a mortgage. Martins and Villanueva (2006) use the removal of a Portuguese programme that subsidised mortgage borrowing, and estimate an elasticity of the probability of getting a mortgage to changes in the interest rate between -1.3 and -2.8.15

It is safe to say that liquidity constraints in many economies do exist (see, e.g., Guiso, Jappelli and Terlizzese, 1994, for evidence from Italy) and substantially affect the amounts that constrained households are able to borrow.¹⁶ While estimation of their effects on the macroeconomy is difficult and subject to considerable uncertainty, household-level data provide an overall picture of the financial circumstances of households and allow a sharper analysis of borrowing constraints, financial hardship and the inability to smooth income shocks.

I.7 RESEARCH ON FINANCIAL INNOVATION, CONSUMPTION SMOOTHING AND PORTFOLIO SELECTION

Financial innovation can have a profound effect on personal spending and the amount and structure of household assets and liabilities. While some of these effects (e.g. liquidity constraints) have been discussed in more detail in the sections above, the focus here is on the extent to which the developments in financial markets, through the access to new assets or lower transaction costs, improve i) consumption smoothing and ii) portfolio selection.

Financial markets help households in moving consumption across time and in insulating their spending from income shocks. Consequently, it can be expected that consumption in economies with more advanced capital markets will generally be less responsive to shocks. Jappelli and Pagano (1994) and, more recently, Chiuri and Jappelli (2003) find cross-country evidence that indicators of capital market imperfections are important determinants of differences in saving rates across OECD countries; e.g., in countries where the downpayment required to purchase a home is low, consumption tends to be high.

Dynan, Elmendorf and Sichel (2006), using the US PSID data, report that the reaction of spending to income shocks has fallen by about a half since 1985. In addition, they also find that the response of consumption to negative income shocks is larger than to positive ones, and that the response to negative shocks has fallen more than the response to positive shocks.¹⁷ Gerardi, Rosen and Willen (2007) develop a test to determine whether and how much the efficiency of the US mortgage markets has increased over time. Using PSID data they investigate how well buying a house predicts future income. They find that the income-forecasting ability

- 15 While this significant interest rate elasticity is indirect evidence against strict borrowing constraints, it is compatible with an arguably more realistic case in which young and poor households are actually able to borrow but at a higher cost.
- 16 A related strand of research attempts to estimate the amount of unmet credit. Cox and Jappelli (1993) report that in the US SCF data, an average respondent among the 17.3% of constrained households possessed only 57% of the credit it wished to have. Duca and Rosenthal (1993), accounting for selection bias, find (in the same data) that the average constrained household, with the household head aged under thirty-five years, had only 48% of its desired debt.
- 17 Both findings are consistent with the existence of liquidity constraints.

of buying a home more than doubled between 1969 and 1999 and detect a discrete jump in the mid-1980s. These results suggest that mortgage markets have become better at providing funds for house purchases to individuals who expect high income. Gerardi et al. (2007) attribute most of this improvement to the deregulation of the savings and loan industry in the early 1980s.

The volume edited by Guiso, Haliassos and Jappelli (2002) summarises much of what we know about portfolio selection in five of the countries for which satisfactory data are available (the US, the UK, Italy, Germany and the Netherlands).¹⁸ The country chapters document the variation in the composition of household portfolios, both across countries and across households within each country. There is ample evidence that the structure of portfolios depends on age, wealth and household characteristics. The volume also highlights a number of changes in the portfolio structure and participation rates over time. Stockholding has clearly become more widespread over time but large crosscountry differences remain. These appear to be driven primarily by different participation rates of the wealthy households across countries. A major factor in increasing stock market participation has been a surge in indirect holdings through financial intermediaries such as mutual funds and retirement accounts. This development had at the same time an effect on diversification, in the direction of more diversified asset holdings. Generally, risk-taking has also increased over time; however, as already pointed out above, risk-taking still remains strongly correlated with wealth. Monitoring further changes in portfolio behaviour is particularly relevant for an assessment of the impact of financial innovation.

In addition, while some of these studies are helpful in documenting the overall improvement in efficiency in financial markets, an important issue for future research is the possibility of adverse effects of financial innovation on some households. The recent financial turmoil has shown that some households (and some lenders) underestimate the risks associated with high indebtedness, such that they may face severe financial distress once the macroeconomic conditions become less favourable. Future research in this area will likely provide valuable insights for policy-makers.

A crucial topic for central banks relates to the estimation of money demand in micro data. The research on this topic is so far limited to only a few papers which use the Italian SHIW - the only existing dataset with good information on households' holdings of cash and the frequency and size of cash withdrawals. The seminal work of Attanasio et al. (2002)19 investigates how transactionary money demand is affected by financial innovation (introduction of ATM cards) and estimates the welfare costs of inflation. Using the classic Baumol-Tobin framework. Attanasio et al. (2002) find interest-rate (semi) elasticity of between -0.3 (for non-ATM users) and -0.6 (for ATM users), values consistent with the theoretical model. In addition, they report that the welfare costs of inflation are relatively small (less than 0.1% of consumption), potentially reflecting the fact that much of M1 in Italy bears interest. New work by Alvarez and Lippi (2007) generalises this framework to allow for the possibility of withdrawing cash at random times at a low cost. Using cohort-level data calculated from the SHIW, their estimates of money demand and the dead-weight cost of inflation are in line with Attanasio et al. (2002). In addition, they report that the interest-rate elasticity of demand for money has fallen due to lower costs of money withdrawals and, consequently, a weakening precautionary motive.

I.8 RESEARCH ON WEALTH INEQUALITY

High and rising wealth inequality is a well-known stylised fact in most advanced economies: a small fraction of the population holds most net worth.²⁰ Because financial assets

- 18 For an interesting summary of the relevant determinants of household portfolio behaviour, see Haliassos (2006).
- 19 The new paper of Lippi and Secchi (2007) updates and extends Attanasio et al. (2002).
- 20 This is particularly true in the US, where the top five percent of the population owns 57 percent of net worth (see Kennickell, 2006).

I RESEARCH SUMMARY

of many less wealthy people consist only of cash and checking accounts, the inequality of risky assets and in particular business equity is even more pronounced. At the same time, many of the richest people are entrepreneurs and hold most of their assets in their own enterprises.

Economic behaviour of the top few percent of the population is important for the dynamics of aggregate wealth and the capital stock. In addition, policy-makers may also be interested in wealth heterogeneity because of its link with economic well-being: while economies with the most extreme inequality are clearly not the most successful economically, as Bernanke (2007) points out, the strong US economic growth over the past several decades has been associated with an increase in inequality. Third, it may be interesting to investigate the role of the tax system in shaping inequality and the trade-off between allowing as much economic opportunities as possible and preventing extreme polarisation of the wealth distribution.

The existing research on wealth distribution is mainly concerned with describing wealth inequality in different countries, and how it has changed over time (Brandolini et al., 2004; Kennickell, 2006; Herrala, 2007). For Italy, wealth inequality is found to have risen steadily during the 1990s, with the increased concentration of financial wealth being an important factor in this development. Also in Finland, which remains one of the countries with the most evenly distributed wealth, inequality has become more pronounced between 1987 and 2004. The survey of the empirical literature on wealth distribution in OECD countries by Davies and Shorrocks (1999) finds that wealth is more unequally distributed than income. Since the distribution of inherited wealth is much more unequal than that of wealth in general, inheritance is widely recognised as playing a major role in generating wealth inequality, especially at the upper end of the wealth range. Entrepreneurs constitute a large fraction of the very rich, and models that explicitly consider the entrepreneurial saving decision can match

the data much better (Cagetti and De Nardi, 2005).

Comparisons of wealth inequality in different countries are still rare (see Bover, Martínez-Carrascal and Velilla, 2005, and Davies et al., 2007) but very interesting because they show how wealth composition varies across countries even at similar income levels due to institutional differences. Bover (2007) investigates the role of household demographics in accounting for differences in the distribution of household wealth between Spain and the US. The results show that household structure affects the comparison between the two countries differently across the distribution. Differences in household demographics account for most of the differences between the two countries in the lower part of the distribution, but mask even larger differences in the upper part of the distribution. Since comparable data on wealth are hardly available, most studies investigate only a few countries. Ex-post harmonisation such as in the Luxembourg Wealth Study can unfortunately not fully resolve the comparability problem.

A number of research questions, many of them being of direct relevance for central banks, can be analysed once reliable data on the wealth of private households are available. Issues that can then be addressed relate, for instance, to the relationship between wealth distribution and growth, the importance of savings in comparison to wealth transfers (gifts and inheritances), or the issue of wealth mobility.



2 USE OF HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION SURVEY DATA IN POLICY-MAKING

This section summarises how results from household finance and consumption surveys feed into policy-making within those central banks that already conduct such surveys. For each country, a brief overview of the survey structure is provided, followed by information on the way and the frequency at which survey results are used to inform policy; finally, each country part gives a few examples where survey data proved particularly beneficial for the analysis of pressing policy issues.

2.1 UNITED STATES

After World War II, there was great concern in the US about the state of consumer demand. Would the economy slide back into depression as a result of insufficient demand, would "pentup demand" from the austerity of wartime overwhelm markets, or would both demand and supply adjust appropriately to sustain growth? To gain information to support policy decisions, the Federal Reserve Board (FRB) initiated some small surveys of its own and provided funding to support the efforts of George Katona and others to use survey research to understand the psychology of consumers and their willingness and ability to take on debt. The focus on debt has remained a constant interest in the FRB survey work since that time.

Encouraged by the success of these relatively modest surveys, in 1962, the FRB undertook a wealth survey that in broad outlines was much like the current SCF. The survey collected extensive information on assets and liabilities and included an over-sample of wealthy households. The purpose of the survey was to gain a richer understanding of household portfolios and the implications of that structure for the transmission of monetary policy, as well as to examine the role of debt in households' balance sheets.

After a re-interview with the respondents to the 1962 survey a year later, no subsequent waves of that survey were completed. The oral history of the time suggests that the termination of this project was due more to the limitations of computing power and its indirect effects on the timeliness of data production than a lack of interest in the data. Indeed, the FRB continued to support smaller surveys on consumer behaviour and it fielded a moderately large survey of consumer credit in 1977.

In the early 1980s, there was renewed interest at the FRB in gathering fresh information on consumer credit combined with interest in other parts of the government, including both other financial regulators and other agencies interested in tax policy, pensions and a variety of other topics for which consumer balance sheets are relevant. From those pooled interests, the 1983 SCF was developed under the leadership of FRB staff, but using outside expertise in a variety of areas to design the survey. That survey was particularly influential at that time for the detailed information it provided on the beginning of the great expansion of facilities for consumer borrowing. Use of the other balance sheet items provided important insights into the distribution of effects of monetary policy changes as they filter through the household sector. A small follow-up to this survey in 1986 was closely examined to understand potential effects of the steep decline in the stock market in 1987.

The widely recognised success of the SCF in the late 1980s generated sufficient support within the FRB for revising the survey to deal effectively with a broad array of topics of relevance to the FRB. As well as continuing its mission to gather detailed information on consumer credit and data to support the study of monetary policy transmission, the survey expanded its scope particularly in areas relevant for the study of bank regulation, deposit insurance, consumer protection and saving behaviour. The survey has been a continuing monitor of the diversity of financial markets accessed by consumers and this has had important effects on decisions related to bank competition policy. Although the survey is not readily associated with

deposit insurance reform, at many stages it has provided critical information on the structure of household deposits that was unavailable from any other source. Among other things, a project merging macroeconomic data with SCF data was undertaken to decompose aggregated saving rates by income groups to determine the underlying patterns of change in the national household saving rate.

Today the SCF is a routine part of US national statistics. It is widely used to understand and illustrate effects of past policies and to simulate the potential effects of possible monetary, fiscal and regulatory policies. It is also an important input into other more aggregated statistics, including the flow of funds accounts and the consumer credit series. It is the most authoritative source of information on household wealth, and as such it is an important factor in the interpretation of results from other data sources. It supports a large contingent of researchers in many areas, but particularly in finance, financial services, public finance and consumer protection.

2.2 GREECE

The key purpose of the Bank of Greece survey of household debt is to understand financial conditions of households and to examine their degree of indebtedness. The first wave was launched in 2002, the second followed at the end of 2005 and the third in the autumn of 2007. The survey asks about the demographic characteristics, income and wealth of households, as well as details regarding all categories of household borrowing. In the 2005 and 2007 surveys, questions about respondents' opinions on the difficulties encountered in servicing their loan obligations and in obtaining borrowing were also included.

The main results of the 2002 and 2005 surveys were published in bi-annual reports to the Greek Parliament, "Monetary Policy 2002-2003", and the Annual Report 2005.²¹ The first results of the 2007 survey were published on the Bank of Greece website with a press release.²² These

surveys are the only statistical sources available which combine information on income, assets and liabilities of Greek households. The micro data have been used at the Bank of Greece to study household borrowing, the loan burden, the cost of servicing, factors that determine loan obligations and whether households service their debts properly.²³

The insights from the survey have repeatedly informed the Bank's assessment of households' indebtedness and vulnerability and have been helpful for issuing guidelines for the approval of loan applications to commercial banks. They are also used in distributional studies, for example to estimate indicators of the functioning of credit markets and financial pressure in different groups of households.

The usefulness of the survey results for policy can be illustrated with the following example. Since 2001, when Greece entered EMU, the balance of outstanding bank loans to Greek households has been increasing at an average annual rate of about 30%. The bank penetration into the household sector has also risen significantly.²⁴ These developments have amplified concerns that households may be borrowing excessively and that the credit risk taken on by banks is high (although the balance of outstanding bank loans to households as a percentage of GDP remains below the euro

- 21 See http://www.bankofgreece.gr/en/publications/pdf/ MonPolicy2002-3.pdf (Annex to Chapter VI: Greek households' borrowing and indebtedness: evidence from a sample survey of the Bank of Greece), as well as http://www.bankofgreece.gr/ en/publications/pdf/Annrep2005.pdf (Appendix to Chapter VI: Borrowing and financial pressure on households: a household survey). The first results of the 2005 survey were also published on the Bank of Greece website in March 2006 with a press release and then presented in Simigiannis and Tzamourani (2007a).
- 22 See http://www.bankofgreece.gr/announcements/ files/19.5.2008%20Daneismos%20noikokyrio%202008% 20-%20Ereuna.doc
- 23 See, for example, Mitrakos, Simigiannis and Tzamourani (2005) and Simigiannis and Tzamourani (2007b).
- 24 Although the growth rates are generally falling, they are still high (2001: 40.4%; 2002: 32.2%; 2003: 28.5%; 2004: 30.2%; 2005: 31.4%; 2006: 25.3%). While this substantial expansion of household credit is in part due to the historically low interest rates, it mainly reflects the recent full liberalisation of this segment. This liberalisation has considerably enhanced competition among banks and increased bank penetration into this previously heavily regulated market.

2 USE OF HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION SURVEY DATA IN POLICY-MAKING

Income groups (EUR)	Distribution of indebted households (percentages of households)			Contribution to total outstanding debt of sample (percentages of households)			Average outstanding debt (EUR)			Median of debt-to-income ratio (percentages)		
	2007	2005	2002	2007	2005	2002	2007	2005	2002	2007	2005	2002
up to 7.500	2.9	5.4	8.3	1.9	3.4	3.5	19,123	12,637	5,684	101.6	61.2	25.
7,501-15,000	22.1	28.2	27.8	14.1	22.5	19	18,907	15,655	10,238	59.3	37.7	29.
15,001-25,000	30.4	34.5	33.5	24.5	26.9	32.8	23,916	15,325	14,783	45.1	29.4	22.
25,001-35,000	21.7	19	16.3	28.1	27.1	19.6	38,474	27,976	18,182	69.6	34.2	15.
35,001+	22.8	12.9	14.1	31.5	20.1	25.1	41,151	30,597	25,898	33.9	28.1	11.
Total ¹⁾							30,006	19,637	15,532	50.4	33.5	22.

Source: Bank of Greece. 1) Amounts refer to all the households that have some type of loan.

area average). Although aggregate data provide a general overview, only data at the household level allow an assessment of how financial distress is distributed. The 2005 survey data showed that, despite the large increase in bank loans to households between 2002 and 2005, the percentage of indebted households remained virtually unchanged. In contrast, in the 2007 survey the fraction of households that reported having outstanding loan obligations has risen compared with the results of 2005 (2007: 51.4%; 2005: 46.9%). Although this finding may be partly due to non-response, it suggests that further credit expansion took place primarily among already indebted households. This fact is consistent with the finding that the average indebtedness of households with credit card or housing loans has increased substantially.

In all three waves average household indebtedness increases with income and wealth (see Table 1). Specifically, the access of low-income households to the bank system remained limited in 2005 (5.4%) and decreased significantly in 2007 to 2.9% (from 8.3% in 2002). A similar trend is recorded in the second income group (2007: 22.1%; 2002: 27.8%). Conversely, the percentage of indebted households in the fourth and fifthhighest income groups (€25,001 to €35,000 and €35,000+) increased significantly especially in the highest income group, while it remained stable in all three waves for the medium income group ($\in 15,001$ to $\in 25,000$). The rapid credit expansion concurrently led to a higher average debt-to-income ratio for all income groups, as did their contribution to the total debt of the whole sample.

The analysis (using all three waves) shows that, for the vast majority of indebted households, the direct financial stress, measured with the debt-service costs, lies within limits generally considered acceptable and should not result in difficulties in the regular servicing of household loans. Furthermore, financial distress declined significantly in the period between 2002 and 2005 (see Chart 1). For example, for 80% of households in the 2005 survey (compared with

Chart | Cross-sectional distribution of the debt service-to-income ratio in Greece



75% in the 2002 survey), the debt-service costs did not exceed 32% of their income. However, by 2007 the debt service of loans had moved back to where it was in 2002, despite the fact that the outstanding balances of banking loans to households increased three times more in this period, while the interest rates in the main categories of loans to households do not differ. Consequently, the maintenance of a stable curve of debt service of loans might also be partly attributed to more effective credit risk management by commercial banks, in line with the guidelines of the Bank of Greece calling for the implementation of a longer-term and more forward-looking policy in this sector beyond the one that competition forces the banks to implement. At the same time, however, households should assess carefully their borrowing needs, and ensure that the amount of loans they are about to take up is in line with their debt-servicing capacity.

2.3 SPAIN

The Spanish Survey of Household Finances (EFF) was started in 2002.25 Its main results are presented to the public in the form of Economic Bulletin articles. The report on the 2002 wave of the EFF focused on the distribution of assets and liabilities by age, income and employment status.²⁶ In addition, the article also computed the distribution of households' financial burden (i.e. the fraction of household income devoted to debt service) and the ratio of debts to total assets owned by the households. The results from the 2005 wave have been released in 2008. At the same time, EFF results are often referred to in public speeches by Banco de España officials. Between June 2005 and April 2007, different results from the 2002 wave were mentioned in at least 12 speeches of the Governor of the Banco de España or the Director of the Directorate General Economics, Research and Statistics. The audience included the Spanish Parliament, the Governing Council of the Banco de España and professionals. Given the recent developments in the Spanish credit market, issues related to household debt are often emphasised.27

In addition, the EFF is employed for policyrelevant research. Two important examples are i) the consumption response to changes in housing prices, which was discussed in detail above, and ii) an assessment of financially vulnerable households. With regard to the latter, aggregate levels of both indebtedness and wealth in Spain have grown substantially since 1999. However, aggregate statistics are not informative about the distribution of assets and liabilities across households. For example, aggregate data neither permit computing how many households are indebted, nor do they allow for an assessment of the implications of a rise in interest rates for indebted households. To understand the distribution of assets and debt, an article in the July 2005 Economic Bulletin of the Banco de España compared the magnitude and composition of wealth of US, Italian, British and Spanish households.²⁸ The document stresses two findings. First, the portfolios of Spanish households are very concentrated on housing wealth, in a way that is roughly constant over the income distribution. Second, while the overall ratio of outstanding debt to household income is very similar across all these countries, there is ample heterogeneity in the way debt-income ratios vary with income. While debt-income ratios decrease with income in Spain and Italy, the opposite happens in the United States or the United Kingdom (see Chart 2). This finding suggests that the group of households that would be most affected by an increase in interest rates differs across countries. Both facts are relevant for assessing the consequences of economic and

- 25 Micro data and related documentation are available at http://www.bde.es/estadis/eff/effe.htm.
- 26 http://www.bde.es/informes/be/boleco/2005/be0501e.pdf.
- 27 For instance, references to the financial vulnerability of Spanish households were made in a speech by the Director of DG Economics, Research and Statistics on 29 June 2005: "The assessment says that while the global situation of families is sound, microeconomic information indicates that a limited sector of households is potentially vulnerable and has either a high level of indebtedness in relation to their income or net wealth. For example, 3.7% of households have a debt-income ratio over 3." The implications of interest rate increases were addressed in speeches by the Governor of the Banco de España to the Congress Budget Office on 10 October 2006 and to the Congress Economics and Finance Commission on 24 April 2007.
- 28 Source: http://www.bde.es/informes/be/boleco/2005/be0507e.pdf.

2 USE OF HOUSEHOLD

FINANCE AND

CONSUMPTION

SURVEY DATA IN

POLICY-MAKING



[&]quot;The Wealth of Spanish Households: A Microeconomic Comparison with the United States, Italy and the United Kingdom", July 2005 Economic Bulletin of the Banco de España.

financial developments, and were mentioned in the 2006 Financial Stability Report prepared by the Banco de España.

To obtain a quantitative assessment of the impact of rising interest rates on indebted







households, a document in the 2005 Annual Report of the Banco de España uses the EFF to compute two measures of financial vulnerability among households with outstanding loans (see Charts 3 and 4). The first investigates by how much the income of each household would drop following various interest rate increases (100 basis points, 200 bp and 300 bp). The second captures the percentage of households whose financial burden exceeds 40% of income. On average, an interest rate increase of 300 bp leads to a 7.3% fall in the disposable income at the bottom of the income distribution, and to a much smaller decrease at the top. Similarly, among the bottom 20% of the income distribution, the fraction of households with a very high financial burden (above 40% of their disposable income) would increase from 30.7% to 37.2%. These estimates suggest a limited effect of interest rate increases on households' financial burden. However, as many households with a significant level of debt and a low income probably have a higher marginal propensity to consume, one might expect that the response of consumption to increases in financing costs would be somewhat greater than what the computations suggest.

2.4 ITALY²⁹

The Survey of Household Income and Wealth (SHIW) has been carried out by the Banca d'Italia since 1965 to acquire information on the economic behaviour of households. It was conducted yearly until 1984, and became biennial afterwards. Micro-level data are publicly available starting from the 1977 wave. The questionnaire has a permanent component, designed to collect core information on income, wealth, savings, payments and demographic data. In addition, the questionnaire contains a variable part with one-off questions and irregularly repeated sections focusing on specific phenomena. Recent examples are modules on: capital gains, inheritance, risk aversion, housework, intergenerational mobility, use of public services, social capital, capital, tax evasion, income and employment expectations,

retirement expectations, financial choices and new technologies.

Following each SHIW wave, a report containing the main results of the survey is compiled; it usually becomes an important reference for the domestic political debate on the economic conditions of households.³⁰ Additionally, after each wave the Annual Report provides an updated picture of some relevant structural characteristics of Italian households.

30 See, e.g., Supplement to the Statistical Bulletin 2004: Survey on Household Income and Wealth, available at http://www. bancaditalia.it/statistiche/indcamp/bilfait/boll stat.

		1995					2004				
	Deposits or government securities	Bonds	Investment fund units	Shares	Other ²⁾	Deposits or government Securities	Bonds	Investment fund units	Shares	Other ²	
		1	Proportion of	holding h	ouseholds	(percentages)					
Geographic area											
Centre and North	91.3	3.6	5.9	5.5	4.5	91.6	8.1	11.3	10.0	6.0	
South and Islands	68.3	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.3	63.6	1.0	2.2	1.6	0.1	
Annual disposable	income										
1st quartile3)	59.7	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.3	58.4	0.5	1.0	0.4	0.5	
2nd quartile4)	85.5	0.4	1.5	1.5	1.5	84.8	2.8	4.2	2.2	2.	
3rd quartile ⁵⁾	94.4	2.3	3.8	3.0	3.0	91.7	7.0	8.4	7.2	5.4	
4th quartile6)	97.9	7.7	11.8	11.3	8.1	95.7	12.8	19.8	19.5	10.	
Total	83.7	2.6	4.2	3.9	3.1	82.7	5.8	8.4	7.4	4.1	
			Composition	of financ	ial assets (percentages)					
Geographic area											
Centre and North	79.5	2.6	6.0	5.2	6.6	60.8	7.7	12.2	10.2	9.3	
South and Islands	89.6	5.7	1.2	1.9	1.6	82.5	1.6	8.8	4.1	3.0	
Annual disposable	income										
1st quartile3)	95.7	1.5	0.5	1.9	0.5	93.2	1.3	3.1	1.6	0.8	
2nd quartile ⁴⁾	93.6	0.5	2.3	1.6	2.0	83.1	4.0	7.5	3.1	2.4	
3rd quartile ⁵⁾	90.7	1.6	3.3	1.6	2.8	73.1	5.8	8.0	6.2	6.	
4th quartile6)	74.5	4.1	6.9	6.5	7.9	53.4	8.3	14.8	12.6	11.	
Total	81.1	3.1	5.3	4.7	5.8	64.1	6.7	11.6	9.2	8.	

Sources: Bank of Italy, *Survey of Household Income and Wealth.* 1) Related to the population as a whole. 2) Includes equity in limited liability companies and partnerships, securities issued by non-residents and loans to cooperative societies. 3) Up to €11,900 in 1995 and up to €15,800 in 2004. 4) Between €11,900 and €18,500 in 1995 and between €15,800 and €24,200 in 2004. 5) Between €18,500 and €28,800 in 1995 and between €24,200 and €37,200 in 2004.

6) More than €28,800 in 1995 and more than €37,200 in 2004.

2 USE OF HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION SURVEY DATA IN **POLICY-MAKING**

²⁹ This part of the note is largely based on the work of C. Biancotti and G. D'Alessio, "The use of micro-level data from the Bank of Italy's Survey of Household Income and Wealth: a focus on household finance". Banca d'Italia, available at http://www. bancaditalia.it/statistiche/indcamp/bilfait/docum.

The household-level data collected in the SHIW are also widely used in policy-relevant research projects or as a tool for simulating the impact of policy measures micro-simulation via frameworks. Examples include the channels of transmission of monetary policy, the functioning of banking markets, the analysis of fiscal issues or pension reform.³¹ Micro data are also used in connection with the compilation of financial and wealth accounts.

Table 3 Household debt in Italy¹⁾

The relative importance of research fields and policy issues changes over time. In the early years, the research mostly concentrated on a few core subjects: income, savings, wealth and

³¹ The website of the Banca d'Italia has a section devoted to the SHIW, containing the official reports, papers, the bibliography of the papers that use the SHIW, downloadable micro data, questionnaires and other documents (http://www.bancaditalia. it/statistiche/indcamp/bilfait). Most documents are available in English.

Table 3 Housenoid deb	t ill italy '						
		1995			2004		
		Total debt		Total debt			
		of which:	of which:		of which:	of which:	
		of which: for house	of which: consumer		of which: for house	of which: consumer	
		purchases	credit		purchases	consumer	
	P	roportion of indel			purchases	crean	
	1	roportion of much	oteu nousenoius				
Geographic area							
Centre and North	21.9	15.1	8.7	23.3	13.3	13.0	
South and Islands	17.6	8.8	10.5	18.5	8.7	11.8	
Annual disposable income							
1st quartile ²⁾	10.5	4.7	6.4	9.6	3.5	6.6	
2nd quartile ³⁾	17.5	10.5	7.9	18.1	8.8	11.1	
3rd quartile ⁴⁾	25.9	16.4	12.7	26.9	14.0	16.7	
4th quartile ⁵⁾	29.2	21.6	10.6	32.5	20.9	16.2	
Total	20.5	13.0	9.3	21.8	11.8	12.6	
	For inde	bted households:	ratio of debt to ass	ets ⁶⁾			
Geographic area							
Centre and North	8.0	8.7	40.4	10.9	13.7	39.0	
South and Islands	8.6	9.8	53.2	9.7	14.4	40.0	
Annual disposable income							
1st quartile ²⁾	10.4	15.4	60.4	25.3	32.4	102.0	
2nd quartile ³⁾	12.8	13.4	101.1	16.7	21.0	63.4	
3rd quartile ⁴⁾	10.1	11.2	53.8	13.7	19.9	49.5	
4th quartile ⁵⁾	6.0	6.5	27.6	7.8	10.0	25.3	
Total	8.1	8.9	43.5	10.6	13.8	39.3	
	For indebted hous	seholds: ratio of d	ebt to annual disp	osable income			
Geographic area							
Centre and North	52.6	63.3	18.3	80.7	113.8	19.9	
South and Islands	50.7	72.3	17.9	68.3	99.8	24.6	
Annual disposable income							
1st quartile ²⁾	125.1	249.5	31.2	165.2	393.7	36.3	
2nd quartile ³⁾	80.4	112.4	27.1	104.5	168.1	36.8	
3rd quartile ⁴⁾	57.7	76.0	19.4	96.7	159.4	22.7	
4th quartile ⁵⁾	38.9	45.7	13.4	60.0	79.0	14.8	
Total	52.2	65.0	18.2	77.9	111.0	21.1	

Source: Bank of Italy, *Survey of Household Income and Wealth*. 1) Related to the population as a whole. Figures below the 1st percentile and above the 99th percentile are set to those of the percentiles Related to the population as a whole. Figures below the 1st percentile and above intervention of the population as a whole. Figures below the 1st percentile and above intervention of the percentile and above intervention of the population of the popu



fiscal policy. Subsequently, attention was paid to more specific themes, such as uncertainty, poverty, inequality or retirement plans. Currently, the research focuses on household finance, including issues such as asset allocation, uncertainty and risk aversion, market structure and imperfections, wealth accumulation, demand for credit, payment technologies and spatial interest-rate differentials.

As far as the composition of households' financial assets and debt is concerned, Italian households have over the last ten years increased their holdings of longer-term financial assets (see Annual Report, 2005). According to the SHIW, the proportion of families owning bonds, investment fund units or shares almost doubled, from under 9% to 16%. Differences in the composition of financial portfolios across income brackets and geographic areas have become more pronounced. While the top income quartile of households, which live predominantly in the Centre and North, holds around 36% of net worth in bonds, investment fund units and shares and a smaller part in deposits (Table 2), the bottom quartile invests more than 90% of their financial wealth in deposits and government securities. The rapid rise in the value of households' real estate and their greatly increased activity in the property market were mirrored in an increase in average debt per household, which, including mortgage loans and consumer credit, rose from €14,000 in 1995 to €27,000 in 2004. The proportion of indebted households increased only by just over one percentage point, however, to 22% (Table 3); the increase in borrowing was especially marked among households in the highest income quartile, which accounts for around 40% of total debt.

2.5 THE NETHERLANDS

The Household Survey of De Nederlandsche Bank (DHS), formerly known as the CentER Savings Survey (Tilburg University), is a panel dataset that started in 1993. De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) has participated since 2002. Data are collected every year with an internet panel of more than 2,000 households. The data contain information about employment, pensions, housing, mortgages, income, assets, debts, payments, health, economic and psychological concepts, and personal characteristics. DHS data are unique in the sense that they allow the study of both psychological and economic aspects of financial behaviour.

The questionnaire has a permanent component, designed to collect core information on the financial behaviour of Dutch households, and a variable part with questions on specific issues. Recent examples of such issues include surveys on Europe, health insurance, counterfeit money, childcare and confidence in financial institutions. Following each DHS wave, DNB's Quarterly Bulletin provides an updated picture of some relevant structural characteristics of Dutch households. Issues addressed relate, for instance, to the financial behaviour of Dutch households (September 2003 and 2004), payment products as perceived by consumers (March 2005), financial stability (June 2005 and March 2006), confidence, happiness and the financial situation of households (September 2005), household saving behaviour (March 2006) and financial literacy (June 2006).

DNB's policy-makers and researchers have made extensive use of DHS data in the past five years. The survey has been used in 9 articles in the Quarterly Bulletin, 17 internal analytical notes and a large number of working papers, DNB occasional studies and publications in refereed journals. To give an example, a case study by van Rooij (2002) has shown that while a substantial number of households might be faced with mortgage payment problems in case of a housing crisis, the financial loss for the banking sector as a whole should be limited to a small fraction of the outstanding mortgage loans. The usefulness of the DHS results for DNB's policy can also be illustrated by the recent research on the wealth effects on consumption, the financial knowledge of Dutch households and their choice of pension schemes, intergenerational solidarity, perceptions of economic growth and inflation



and payment behaviour. Furthermore, the data are publicly available for scientific purposes, and external researchers make substantial use of them.

2.6 AUSTRIA

the summer fall of 2004 the In and Oesterreichische Nationalbank (OeNB) conducted a household survey of financial wealth, investment and debt. The survey's 87 questions covered the households' sociodemographic characteristics, assets, information sources about financial market topics and approaches to financial market issues. The report of Beer et al. (2004), which received much interest both within the Bank and outside (in ministries, parliament and research institutions), summarises the main results of the survey.

The data are used in the OeNB's Financial Stability Report to put the aggregate statistics in perspective. For assessing the risks of household debt to financial stability, it is important to know the debt concentration within the household sector and the ratio of debt to income and assets at the household level. Beer and Schürz (2007)

document that loans are in particular taken up by high-income and wealthy households, a relationship that is especially pronounced for foreign currency loans (denominated mostly in Swiss francs). From the perspective of financial stability, the Austrian micro data show that a considerable fraction of loans was taken up by households that can rely on reserves in the case of adverse events such as a rise in interest rates for variable rate loans, an unfavourable development of exchange rates for foreign currency loans, or a drop in income. In a similar vein, the analysis of stock market risks should take into account that only a minority of relatively wealthy/high-income households have invested in equities.

However, the fact that the high proportion of foreign currency housing loans is subject to quite considerable exchange rate risk is of particular concern for the OeNB and is therefore currently analysed in more depth in cooperation with the Swiss National Bank (Beer et al., 2007). Apart from discussing why households demand such loans and banks supply them, the aim is to figure out what are the characteristics of households that have taken up such loans.



6 Occasional Paper No 100 January 2009 Financial literacy of households has recently become a topic of growing importance for central banks. The Austrian survey contains good information on this topic and can therefore be used for assessing and suggesting how to improve financial capabilities of households. According to a recent study (Fessler et al., 2007), personal attitudes towards financial issues (e.g. risk orientation, propensity to invest in complex financial products and to shop around, self-confidence in financial matters) are affected by education, income and age. Respondents with a higher level of income and education tend to have greater confidence in their financial knowledge and skills. However, most respondents do not devote many resources to the choice of financial products. Relatively few households own risky financial products, and those which do usually rely on the advice of their banks. Furthermore, about a half of the respondents only seldom compare offers of financial services. One of the main findings is that future efforts directed towards improving financial literacy should pay special attention to the differences between financial attitudes and actual financial behaviour.

2.7 PORTUGAL

In the early 1990s, the Banco de Portugal (BdP) encouraged the National Statistical Institute (NSI) to conduct a survey of Portuguese households' wealth and debt (Inquérito ao Património e Endividamento das Famílias, hereafter IPEF), recognising the importance of acquiring information on the distribution of wealth and debt across households. The IPEF was launched in 1994 as an additional module of the Employment Survey, allowing the information on the wealth and debt of households to be linked with information on their income and socio-demographic characteristics. In the second and third waves, which were carried out in 2000 and 2006/2007, the IPEF was attached to the Income and Expenditure Survey.

The IPEF has been the only statistical source collecting information on income, expenditure, financial assets, real assets and debts of Portuguese households at the micro level. The data obtained from the survey have been used to study the heterogeneity of households' debt, debt burden and portfolio composition,



2 USE OF HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION SURVEY DATA IN POLICY-MAKING depending on several characteristics such as income, education levels, age or region of residence.

Because of the relatively long time interval between the waves (six years), the information in the IPEF is primarily of a structural nature. However, the results of the data analysis still proved useful for policy-makers (after all, the underlying motivation to implement the IPEF was the recognition that a better knowledge of distributional aspects of household wealth and debt is highly policy-relevant).

The main results of the IPEF waves are presented in articles in the Economic Bulletin of the BdP. Based on concerns at the time about insufficient savings slowing down economic growth, the Economic Bulletin article analysing the results of the first wave (Dias, 1996) focused on the distribution of household wealth and portfolio composition. The strong and rapid rise in aggregate household debt during the 1990s (from 36% of disposable income in 1995 to 85% in 2000, reflecting both the decrease of interest rates and changes in the supply side of the credit market) raised sustainability concerns.

A study of the IPEF data proved particularly valuable in that regard. Chart 6 presents data on households' debt burden in 1994 and in 2000, broken down according to household monthly income and age of the reference person.³² The chart shows that there was a considerable decline in the average debt burden for all the categories of age/income considered. The survey data thus imply that the rise of household indebtedness at the aggregate level was not achieved at the expense of increased leverage at the individual level. Instead, they suggest more widespread opportunities for households to smooth consumption over the business cycle. This finding was also important for understanding why private consumption kept growing after EMU accession, in particular during the slowdown in economic activity after 2000.

In between the waves, the data were also used for interpreting macroeconomic developments and assessing financial stability. Corresponding analyses were presented, e.g. in the Annual Report and the Financial Stability Report. Following the second wave in 2000, aggregate household indebtedness has continued to rise steadily. Moreover, judging from aggregate statistics, the emergence and widespread marketing of new financial investment products may recently have caused significant changes in the portfolio composition of Portuguese households. Therefore, a more up-to-date picture of the financial situation of households at the micro level is of utmost importance, especially with regard to the segments that may have recently assumed greater risks. The field work of the third IPEF wave finished in late 2007; preliminary results were published in Farinha (2007).

32 For details see L. Farinha (2004), "Households' debt burden – an analysis based on microeconomic data", Banco de Portugal Economic Bulletin, June.



ANNEX

THE EUROSYSTEM HOUSEHOLD FINANCE AND CONSUMPTION NETWORK

This paper was drafted by the Eurosystem Household Finance and Consumption Network, chaired by Caroline Willeke and Michael Ehrmann. The list of members of the Network at the time was as follows:

Isabelle de Greef Banque Nationale de Belgique/Nationale Bank van België Pierrick Stinglhamber Banque Nationale de Belgique/Nationale Bank van België Ulf von Kalckreuth Deutsche Bundesbank **Tobias Schmidt** Deutsche Bundesbank Markus Grabka DIW Berlin/SOEP Mary J. Keenev Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Martina Lawless Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Aisling Menton Calliope Akantziliotou Bank of Greece Theodoros Mitrakos Bank of Greece Bank of Greece (up to July 2007) Panagiota Tzamourani Cristina Barceló Banco de España Olympia Bover Banco de España Ernesto Villanueva López Banco de España Frédérique Savignac Banque de France Patrick Sevestre Banque de France Cédric Houdré INSEE Ivan Faiella Banca d'Italia Banca d'Italia Stefano Iezzi Eliana Viviano Banca d'Italia Stephan Haroutunian Central Bank of Cyprus Thomas Mathä Banque centrale du Luxembourg Karen Caruana Central Bank of Malta Christopher Pace Central Bank of Malta Henriëtte M. Prast De Nederlandsche Bank De Nederlandsche Bank Corry van Renselaar Federica Teppa De Nederlandsche Bank Maarten van Rooij De Nederlandsche Bank Christian Beer Oesterreichische Nationalbank Pirmin Fessler Oesterreichische Nationalbank Martin Schürz Oesterreichische Nationalbank Luísa Farinha Banco de Portugal Matei Brelih Banka Slovenije Uroš Geršak Banka Slovenije Matjaž Jeran Banka Slovenije Irena Komprej Banka Slovenije Risto Herrala Bank of Finland Jouko Vilmunen Bank of Finland Juha Honkkila Statistics Finland

ANNEX

Jean-Marc Museux	Eurostat
Riccardo Bonci	European Central Bank
Michael Ehrmann	European Central Bank, Chairperson
Trevor Fitzpatrick	European Central Bank
Magnus Forsells	European Central Bank
Ramón Gómez-Salvador	European Central Bank
Elke Hahn	European Central Bank
David Lodge	European Central Bank
Sébastien Pérez-Duarte	European Central Bank
Carlos Sánchez Muñoz	European Central Bank, Secretary
Patrick Sandars	European Central Bank
Frauke Skudelny	European Central Bank
Jiri Slacalek	European Central Bank, Secretary (starting March 2008)
Panagiota Tzamourani	European Central Bank (as of July 2007)
Philip Vermeulen	European Central Bank, Secretary (until February 2008)
Caroline Willeke	European Central Bank, Chairperson
Bernhard Winkler	European Central Bank
Martin Zeleny	European Central Bank
Luigi Guiso	European University Institute, Florence
Michael Haliassos	Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität Frankfurt
Arthur Kennickell	Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

The Eurosystem Household Finance and Consumption Network (HFCN) is a network consisting of survey experts, statisticians and economists of the ECB, the Eurosystem national central banks and a number of national statistical institutes and research institutes. The HFCN has been mandated by the ECB Governing Council to implement the Eurosystem Household Finance and Consumption Survey (HFCS), to serve as a forum for research with the survey data and to take care of the development of the HFCS.

The HFCS covers micro-level information on manifold households' decisions with regard to holding real and financial assets, taking debt, risk attitudes, employment, income, pensions, intergenerational transfers, gifts, consumption and savings. Data collection is expected to start as early as in 2009 in a number of euro area countries. It is expected that anonymised euro area micro data on household finance and consumption will also be made available to the research community in the future. The HFCS will be conducted at a national level, with countries striving for harmonisation on the survey 'output side' by reporting a set of output variables which have been commonly defined. The so-called 'core' output variables are delivered by all participating countries. In addition, a set of non-core variables are defined and countries can freely decide to collect (some of) them in their surveys, such that this can be done in a standardised way and allows for cross-country comparability. The HFCN also developed a blue-print questionnaire to be used primarily by the countries implementing the HFCS for the first time.

The blue-print Eurosystem questionnaire consists of two main parts: one targeted at the household as a whole and the other at individual household members. The block covering household-level questions encompasses real assets and their financing, other liabilities/ credit constraints, private businesses, financial assets, intergenerational transfers and gifts,

and consumption and saving. Questions to individuals cover demographics, employment, future pension entitlements and income. In addition to these questions there are standardised questions to determine the respondent responsible for the household questionnaire, 'the financially knowledgeable person', and also questions to be answered by the interviewer related to the appearance and location of the dwelling (to provide the so-called 'para-data'). More information is available at www.ecb. europa.eu/home/html/researcher_hfcn.en.html.





- Altissimo, F., E. Georgiou, T. Sastre, M. Valderrama, G. Sterne, M. Stocker, M. Weth, K. Whelan and A. Wilman (2005), "Wealth and Asset Price Effects on Economic Activity", ECB Occasional Paper No. 29.
- Alvarez, F. and F. Lippi (2007), "Financial Innovation and the Transactions Demand for Cash", NBER Working Paper No. 13416.
- Ando, A. and S. Nicoletti-Altimari (2004), "A Micro Simulation Model of Demographic Development and Households' Economic Behavior in Italy", Banca d'Italia Discussion Paper No. 533.
- Attanasio, O., J. Banks and M. Wakefield (2004), "Effectiveness of Tax Incentives to Boost (Retirement) Saving: Theoretical Motivations and Empirical Evidence", OECD Economic Studies 39(2), pp. 145-172.
- Attanasio, O. and A. Brugiavini (2003), "Social Security and Household's Saving", *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 118(3), pp. 1075-1119.
- Attanasio, O., L. Guiso and T. Jappelli (2002), "The Demand for Money, Financial Innovation and the Welfare Cost of Inflation: An Analysis with Household Data", *Journal of Political Economy* 110(2), pp. 317-351.
- Attanasio, O., P. Goldberg and E. Kyriazidou (2000), "Credit Constraints in the Market for Consumer Durables: Evidence from Micro Data on Loans", NBER Working Paper No. 7694.
- Ayuso, J., J. Jimeno and E. Villanueva (2007), "The effects of the introduction of tax incentives on retirement savings", Banco de España Working Paper No. 724.
- Beer, C., P. Mooslechner, M. Schürz and K. Wagner (2006), "Austrian Households' Financial Wealth: An Analysis Based on Microeconomic Data", Monetary Policy & the Economy, Q2/06, pp. 94-110, Oesterreichische Nationalbank.
- Beer, C. and M. Schürz (2007), "Characteristics of Household Debt in Austria: Does Household Debt Pose a Threat to Financial Stability", Monetary Policy & the Economy Q2/07, pp. 58-79, Oesterreichische Nationalbank.
- Beer, C., S. Ongena and M. Peter (2007), "Austrian Households Borrowing in Swiss Franks", mimeo, OENB and SNB.
- Bernanke, B. (2007), "The Level and Distribution of Economic Well-Being", speech before the Greater Omaha Chamber of Commerce, Omaha, Nebraska, 6 February 2007, http://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/Bernanke20070206a.htm.
- Bertaut, C.C. and M. Haliassos (2006), "Credit Cards: Facts and Theories", in: G. Bertola, R. Disney and C. Grant (eds), *The Economics of Consumer Credit*, Cambridge: MIT Press, pp. 181-237.



- Börsch-Supan, A. (2001), Introduction to "International Comparison of Household Savings Behaviour: A study of life-cycle savings in seven countries", *Research in Economics* 55(1), pp. 1-14.
- Berben, R.P., K. Bernoth and M. Mastrogiacomo (2006), "Households' Response to Wealth Changes: Do Gains or Losses Make a Difference?", DNB Working Paper No. 90.
- Bernheim, D. (2002), "Taxation and Saving", in: Handbook of Public Economics.
- Bostic, R., S. Gabriel and G. Painter (2005), "Housing Wealth, Financial Wealth, and Consumption: New Evidence from Micro Data", mimeo, University of Southern California.
- Bottazzi, R., T. Jappelli and M. Padula (2006), "Retirement Expectations, Pension Reforms and their Impact on Private Wealth Accumulation", *Journal of Public Economics* 90, pp. 2187-2212.
- Bover, O. (2005), "Wealth Effects on Consumption: Microeconometric Estimates from the Spanish Survey of Household Finances", Banco de España Working Paper No. 522, revised version http://www.olympiabover.name/Housing%20wealth June07.pdf.
- Bover, O. (2007), "Wealth Inequality and Household Structure: US vs Spain", Banco de España Working Paper No. 0804.
- Bover, O., C. Martínez-Carrascal and P. Velilla (2005), "The Wealth of Spanish Households: A Microeconomic Comparison with the United States, Italy and the United Kingdom", Economic Bulletin of the Banco de España, July.
- Brandolini, A., L. Cannari, G. D'Alessio and I. Faiella (2004), "Household Wealth Distribution in Italy in the 1990s", Banca d'Italia Discussion Paper No. 530.
- Bridges, S., R. Disney and A. Henley (2006), "Housing Wealth and the Accumulation of Financial Debt: Evidence from U.K. Households", in: G. Bertola, R. Disney and C. Grant (eds), *The Economics of Consumer Credit*, Cambridge: MIT Press, pp. 135-180.
- Cagetti, M. and M. De Nardi (2005), "Wealth inequality: data and models", Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago Working Paper No. 2005-10.
- Campbell, J. Y. (2006), "Household Finance", Journal of Finance, 61(4), pp. 1553-1604.
- Campbell, J. Y. and J. F. Cocco (2007), "How Do House Prices Affect Consumption? Evidence from Micro Data", *Journal of Monetary Economics* 54, pp. 591-621.
- Christelis, D., D. Georgarakos and M. Haliassos (2007), "Economic Integration and Mature Portfolios", Working Paper.
- Chiuri, M. C. and T. Jappelli (2003), "Financial Market Imperfections and Home Ownership: A Comparative Study", *European Economic Review* 47(5), pp. 857-875.

- Cox, D. and T. Jappelli (1993), "The Effect of Borrowing Constraints on Consumer Liabilities", *Journal of Money*, Credit and Banking 25, pp. 197-213.
- Crook, J. (2006), "Household Debt Demand and Supply: A Cross-Country Comparison", in: G. Bertola, R. Disney and C. Grant (eds), *The Economics of Consumer Credit*, Cambridge: MIT Press, pp. 63-92.
- Davies, J. B. and A. Shorrocks (1999), "The Distribution of Wealth", in: A. B. Atkinson and F. Bourguignon (eds), *Handbook of Income Distribution* Volume 1, pp. 605-675.
- Davies, J. B., S. Sandstrom, A. Shorrocks and E. N. Wolff (2007), "The World Distribution of Household Wealth", http://www.wider.unu.edu/research/2006-2007/2006-2007-1/wider-wdhwlaunch-5-12-2006/wider-wdhw-report-5-12-2006.pdf.
- Dias, M. (1996), "Wealth and Income in Portugal: A First Approach to the IPEF", Banco de Portugal Economic Bulletin, June.
- Disney, R., S. Bridges and J. Gathergood (2006), "Housing wealth and household indebtedness: Is there a household financial accelerator?", mimeo, University of Nottingham.
- Disney, R., J. Gathergood and A. Henley (2007), "House Price Shocks, Negative Equity and Household Consumption in the United Kingdom", mimeo, University of Nottingham.
- Duca, D. J. and S. S. Rosenthal (1993), "Borrowing Constraints, Household Debt and Racial Discrimination in Loan Markets", *Journal of Financial Intermediation* 3, pp. 77-103.
- Dynan, K. E., D. W. Elmendorf and D. E. Sichel (2006), "Financial Innovation and the Great Moderation: What Do Household Data Say?", manuscript (presented at the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco conference on "Financial Innovations and the Real Economy").
- Dynan, K. E. and D. L. Kohn (2007), "The Rise in U.S. Household Indebtedness: Causes and Consequences", Board of Governors International Finance Discussion Paper No. 37.
- ECB (2007), "EU Banking Sector Stability", November.
- van Els, P., J.W. van en End and M. van Rooij (2004), "Pensions and Public Opinion: A Survey Among Dutch Households", *De Economist* 152(1), pp. 101-116.
- Engelhardt, G. V. (1996), "House Prices and Home Owner Saving Behavior", *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 26(3/4), pp. 313-336.
- Farinha, L. (2003), "The Effect and Demographic and Socioeconomic Factors on Households' Indebtedness", Banco de Portugal Economic Bulletin, September.
- Farinha, L. (2007), "The indebtedness of Portuguese households: recent evidence based on the results of the 2006-07 wave of the IPEF", Financial Stability Report, Banco de Portugal (in Portuguese: "O endividamento das familias protuguesas: evidencia recente com base nos resultados do IPEF 2006-07").



- Friedberg, L. and A. Webb (2003), "Retirement and the Evolution of Pension Structure", NBER Working Paper No. 9999.
- Feldstein, M. (1974), "Social Security, Induced Retirement and Aggregate Capital Accumulation", Journal of Political Economy 82 (5), pp. 05-926.
- Fessler, P., M. Schürz, K. Wagner and B. Weber (2007), "Financial Literacy of the Austrian Population", Monetary Policy & the Economy Q3/07, pp. 53-71, Oesterreichische Nationalbank (in German: "Die Finanzkompetenz der österreichischen Bevölkerung").
- Gerardi, K., H. S. Rosen and P. Willen (2007), "Do Households Benefit from Financial Deregulation and Innovation? The Case of the Mortgage Market", NBER Working Paper No. 12967.
- Grant, C. and T. Peltonen (2005), "Housing and Equity Wealth Effects of Italian Households", DNB Working Paper No. 43.
- Gross, D.B. and N.S. Souleles (2002), "Do Liquidity Constraints and Interest Rates Matter for Consumer Behavior? Evidence from Credit Card Data", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 117, pp. 149-185.
- Guiso, L., M. Haliassos and T. Jappelli (2002), Household Portfolios, Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Guiso, L., T. Jappelli and M. Terlizzese (1994), "Why Is Italy's Saving Rate so High?", in: A. Ando, L. Guiso and I. Visco (eds), Saving and the Accumulation of Wealth. Essays on Italian Household and Government Behavior, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Guiso, L., T. Jappelli and M. Terlizzese (1996), "Income Risk, Borrowing Constraints, and Portfolio Choice", American Economic Review 86(1), pp. 158-72.
- Guiso, L., M. Paiella and I. Visco (2005), "Do Capital Gains Affect Consumption? Estimates of Wealth Effects from Italian Households' Behaviour", Banca d'Italia Discussion Paper No. 555.
- Haliassos, M. (2006), "Household Portfolios", New Palgrave Dictionary, 2nd Edition, forthcoming.
- Hall, R. (1978), "Stochastic Implications of the Life Cycle-Permanent Income Hypothesis", Journal of Political Economy 86, pp. 971-87.
- Hendershott, P.H., G. Pryce and M. White (2003), "Household leverage and the deductibility of home mortgage interests: Evidence from the UK house purchasers", *Journal of Housing Research* 14, pp. 49-82.
- Herrala, R. (2007), "Household Wealth in Finland", Bank of Finland Bulletin 2007(3), pp. 79-85.
- Herrala, R. and K. Kauko (2007), "Household Loan Risk in Finland Estimations and Simulations with Micro Data", Bank of Finland Discussion Paper No. 5-2007.
- Hubbard, R. G. and J. S. Skinner (1996), "Assessing the Effectiveness of Saving Incentives", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 10 (4), pp. 73-90.

- Hurd, M. and S. Rohwedder (2005), "Changes in Consumption and Activities at Retirement", DNB Working Paper No. 39.
- Jappelli, T. and M. Pagano (1994), "Saving Growth and Liquidity Constraints", *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 109, pp. 83-109.
- Jappelli, T., J.-S. Pischke and N. S. Souleles (1998), "Testing for Liquidity Constraints in Euler Equations with Complementary Data Resources", *Review of Economics and Statistics* 80, pp. 251-262.
- Jappelli, T. and L. Pistaferri (2000), "Using Subjective Expectations to Test for Excess Sensitivity of Consumption to Predicted Income Growth", *European Economic Review* 44, pp. 337-358.
- Jappelli, T. and L. Pistaferri (2007), "Do People Respond to Tax Incentives? An analysis of the Italian reform of the deductibility of mortgage interests", European Economic Review 51, pp. 247-271.
- Kakes, J. and D. Broeders (2006), "The Sustainability of the Dutch Pension System", DNB Occasional Study No. 4.
- Kennickell, A. (2006), "Currents and Undercurrents: Changes in the Distribution of Wealth 1989-2004", Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, http://www.federalreserve. gov/pubs/oss/oss2/method.html.
- Kennickell, A. and A. Lusardi (2004), "Disentangling the Importance of the Precautionary Saving Motive", NBER Working Paper No. 10888.
- Laibson, D., A. Repetto and J. Tobacman (2003), "A debt puzzle", in: P. Aghion, R. Frydman, J. Stiglitz and M. Woodford (eds), *Knowledge, Information, and Expectations in Modern Economics: In Honor of Edmund S. Phelps*, Princeton: Princeton University Press, pp. 228-266.
- Lippi, F. and A. Secchi (2007), "Technological Change and the Demand for Currency: An Analysis with Household Data", CEPR Discussion Paper Series 6023.
- Lehnert, A. (2004), "Housing, Consumption and Credit Constraints", Board of Governors FEDS Working Paper No. 63.
- Maki, D. (2001), "Household Debt and the Tax Reform Act of 1986", *American Economic Review* 91, pp. 305-319.
- Maki, D. M. and M. G. Palumbo (2001), "Disentangling the Wealth Effect: A Cohort Analysis of Household Saving in the 1990s", Board of Governors FEDS Working Paper No. 21.
- Martins, N. and E. Villanueva (2006), "The impact of mortgage interest rate subsidies on household borrowing", *Journal of Public Economics* 90(8-9), pp. 1601-1623.
- Miniaci, R., C. Monfardini and G. Weber (2003), "Is There a Retirement Consumption Puzzle in Italy", Institute for Fiscal Studies WP03/14.



- Mitrakos T.M., G.T. Simigiannis and P. Tzamourani (2005), "Indebtedness of Greek Households: Evidence from a Survey", Bank of Greece Economic Bulletin, Issue 25, August.
- Paiella, M. (2004), "Does Wealth Affect Consumption? Evidence from Italy", Banca d'Italia Discussion Paper No. 510.
- Poterba, J., S. Venti and D. Wise (1995), "Do 401(k) contributions crowd out other personal saving?", *Journal of Public Economics*, 58, pp. 1-32.
- van Rooij, M. (2002), "Financial vulnerability of mortgagors and mortgagees", Research Memorandum WO, no 706.E, October 2002, Research Department, De Nederlandsche Bank.
- van Rooij, M., C. Kool and H. Prast (2007), "Risk-Return Preferences in the Pension Domain: Are People Able to Choose?", *Journal of Public Economics* 91, pp. 701-722.
- Runkle, D. E. (1991), "Liquidity Constraints and the Permanent Income Hypothesis: Evidence from Panel Data", *Journal of Monetary Economics* 27, pp. 73-98.
- Sierminska, E. and Y. Takhtamanova (2007), "Wealth Effects out of Financial and Housing Wealth: Cross Country and Age Group Comparisons", Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco WP No. 1.
- Simigiannis G.T. and P. Tzamourani (2007a), "Greek Household Indebtedness and Financial Stress: Results from Household Survey Data", Irving Fisher Committee (IFC) Bulletin no 26, proceedings of the IFC conference on Measuring the Financial Position of the Household Sector, Basel.
- Simigiannis G.T. and P. Tzamourani (2007b), "Borrowing and Socio-Economic Characteristics of Households: Results of Sample Surveys Carried out by the Bank of Greece, Bank of Greece Economic Bulletin, Issue 28, February.
- Skinner, J. S. (1996), "Is housing wealth a sideshow?, in: NBER (ed.), Advances in the Economics of Aging, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, pp. 241-268.
- Slacalek, J. (2006), "What Drives Personal Consumption? The Role of Housing and Financial Wealth", German Institute for Economic Research Discussion Paper No. 647.
- Smith, S. (2004), "Can the Retirement Consumption Puzzle be Resolved? Evidence From UK Panel Data", Institute for Fiscal Studies Working Paper No. 04/07.
- Tiseno, A. and M. Paiella (2005), "Stock Market Optimism and Participation Cost: a Mean-Variance Estimation", DNB Working Paper No. 40.
- Zeldes, S. P. (1989), "Consumption and Liquidity Constraints: An Empirical Investigation", *Journal* of Political Economy 97(2), pp. 305-346.

EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES SINCE 2008

- 78 "A framework for assessing global imbalances" by T. Bracke, M. Bussière, M. Fidora and R. Straub, January 2008.
- 79 "The working of the eurosystem: monetary policy preparations and decision-making selected issues" by P. Moutot, A. Jung and F. P. Mongelli, January 2008.
- 80 "China's and India's roles in global trade and finance: twin titans for the new millennium?" by M. Bussière and A. Mehl, January 2008.
- 81 "Measuring Financial Integration in New EU Member States" by M. Baltzer, L. Cappiello, R.A. De Santis, and S. Manganelli, January 2008.
- 82 "The Sustainability of China's Exchange Rate Policy and Capital Account Liberalisation" by L. Cappiello and G. Ferrucci, February 2008.
- 83 "The predictability of monetary policy" by T. Blattner, M. Catenaro, M. Ehrmann, R. Strauch and J. Turunen, March 2008.
- 84 "Short-term forecasting of GDP using large monthly datasets: a pseudo real-time forecast evaluation exercise" by G. Rünstler, K. Barhoumi, R. Cristadoro, A. Den Reijer, A. Jakaitiene, P. Jelonek, A. Rua, K. Ruth, S. Benk and C. Van Nieuwenhuyze, May 2008.
- 85 "Benchmarking the Lisbon Strategy" by D. Ioannou, M. Ferdinandusse, M. Lo Duca, and W. Coussens, June 2008.
- 86 "Real convergence and the determinants of growth in EU candidate and potential candidate countries: a panel data approach" by M. M. Borys, É. K. Polgár and A. Zlate, June 2008.
- 87 "Labour supply and employment in the euro area countries: developments and challenges", by a Task Force of the Monetary Policy Committee of the European System of Central Banks, June 2008.
- 88 "Real convergence, financial markets, and the current account Emerging Europe versus emerging Asia" by S. Herrmann and A. Winkler, June 2008.
- 89 "An analysis of youth unemployment in the euro area" by R. Gomez-Salvador and N. Leiner-Killinger, June 2008.
- 90 "Wage growth dispersion across the euro area countries: some stylised facts" by M. Anderson, A. Gieseck, B. Pierluigi and N. Vidalis, July 2008.
- 91 "The impact of sovereign wealth funds on global financial markets" by R. Beck and M. Fidora, July 2008.
- 92 "The Gulf Cooperation Council countries economic structures, recent developments and role in the global economy" by M. Sturm, J. Strasky, P. Adolf and D. Peschel, July 2008.



- 93 "Russia, EU enlargement and the euro" by Z. Polański and A. Winkler, August 2008.
- 94 "The changing role of the exchange rate in a globalised economy" by F. di Mauro, R. Rüffer and I. Bunda, September 2008.
- 95 "Financial stability challenges in candidate countries managing the transition to deeper and more market-oriented financial systems" by the International Relations Committee expert group on financial stability challenges in candidate countries, September 2008.
- 96 "The monetary presentation of the euro area balance of payments" by L. Bê Duc, F. Mayerlen and P. Sola, September 2008.
- 97 "Globalisation and the competitiveness of the euro area" by F. di Mauro and K. Forster, September 2008.
- 98 "Will oil prices decline over the long run?" by R. Kaufmann, P. Karadeloglou and F. di Mauro, October 2008.
- 99 "The ECB and IMF indicators for the macro-prudential analysis of the banking sector: a comparison of the two approaches" by A. M. Agresti, P. Baudino and P. Poloni, November 2008.
- 100 "Survey data on household finance and consumption: research summary and policy use" by the Eurosystem Household Finance and Consumption Network, January 2009.

EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES



